1954

# Hollis E. Walker v. Levi G. Peterson : Additional Argument and Mathematical Computations by Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by the plaintiff, appellants herein, to enjoin or abate a private nuisance in the use by the defendants, respondents herein, of their lands adjoining plaintiff's property on the north and east thereof, and for other relief. This action was brought under

the authority of Section 78-38-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which is as follows:

“78-38-1. ‘NUISANCE’ DEFINED - RIGHT OF ACTION FOR JUDGMENT. - Anything which is injurious to health, or indecent, or offensive to the senses, or an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property, is a nuisance and the subject of an action. Such action may be brought by any person whose property is injuriously affected, or whose personal enjoyment is lessened by nuisance; and by the judgment the nuisance may be enjoined or[abated], and damages may also be recovered.”

The cause came on for trial before the Honorable Parley E. Norseth, Judge of the Second Judicial Court, sitting without a jury, at Davis County, State of Utah. The court entered findings of fact, conclusions of law and decree in favor of defendants and against plaintiffs, finding that no actionable nuisance existed, and dismissed plaintiffs’ complaint with prejudice. This appeal is taken from said decree.

The facts show that the plaintiffs are owners of certain residential and farm property located in Woods Cross, Davis County, Utah, approximately 610 feet South of the intersection of 5th South and 8th West Streets. The W. S. Hatch Co. is a corporation of the State of Utah, and W. S. Hatch is the president and manager of the said corporation. The corporation owns or leases land which adjoins the plaintiffs’ property on the north and east thereof. Up until about 1951, defendants’ only

had land that adjoined plaintiffs' property on the north, but at that time they leased the property which adjoins plaintiffs' property on the east from Phillips Petroleum Company, the owners thereof. Defendants conduct, both upon the leased property and their own property, a road and fuel oil and acid transportation and distribution business. Defendants run over 30 large units on this property and use it for the maintenance, repairing, servicing, cleaning, starting and storing of these large trucks, semi-trucks and trailers used for the transportation of oil and acid.

The plaintiffs complained that defendants, in the conduct of their business and in the maintenance, repairing, cleaning, starting and servicing of these trucks, have caused and are causing, both day and night, loud and unusual noises, to-wit: hammering metal upon metal parts of trucks, tires and other objects while maintaining equipment and making repairs, changing tires and for other purposes. It was also complained that defendants, in the cleaning and greasing of their equipment, cause loud noises like hissing and squealing over a prolonged period of time and that they cause loud noises in starting, testing, and warming up the engines of the various trucks and tractors; and that they drive the said trucks and tractors into and around the area without regard to the noise made thereby and idle the engines of the said trucks and tractors for prolonged periods of time with the throttle open so as to make a large amount of noise. Plaintiffs further complained that the lights used at night in the business are so located and are of such an

intensity that the light therefrom shines directly upon and into the premises of the plaintiffs, especially into the the bedroom of plaintiffs, resulting in loss of sleep because of the glare. It was further complained that the defendant's operation causes fumes of oil and exhaust to enter plaintiffs' property creating an extremely unpleasant condition and tending to make plaintiffs' home uninhabitable. Defendants were further complained of for the reason that they put old tires, batteries, stoves, metal and concrete refuse, etc., along the fence separating plaintiffs' and defendants' property, thus constituting an eyesore and fire hazard. Plaintiffs contended and do contend that each and all of the above conditions constituted actionable nuisances under Section 78-38-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and also under the recognized law of nuisance as it exists in this state.

The facts show that plaintiffs' home was originally constructed about 80 years ago and that plaintiff Glen A. Hatch was born in the home and lived there until five or six years of age when he moved into the home now occupied by his brother, Willard S. Hatch, and that he lived in that home until he was married in 1917 when he moved back into his present home. The home was remodeled a time or two and very extensively remodeled in 1951. Plaintiffs' home and that home occupied by defendant Willard S. Hatch, have always been used solely for residential purposes.

When the plaintiffs moved into their home after their marriage in 1917, the property in the entire Woods

Cross area was used for residential and farming purposes with the exception of the railroad located in front of their residence and one industry consisting of a corrugated pipe and headgate business located at the northeast corner of Fifth South and Eighth West Streets about an eighth of a mile from plaintiffs' home. (R-5,6) There were also a small garage and two stores in the area. About 1925 the Wasatch Oil Company, predecessor in interest to the Phillips Petroleum Company, purchased the Hardesty Manufacturing Company building and sometime thereafter started their refining operations there. (R-7) Since that time other commercial construction has come into the area, consisting of the Phillips loading dock, warehouse and storage building; a new Phillips loading dock; the Mitchell Garage; the Droubay Garage; and the large expansion of the Phillips plant north of Fifth South Street. (R-8, et seq)

At the present time the area may be described thusly:

Proceeding east from the intersection of Fifth South and Eighth West Streets, on the north side of Fifth South Street, there are located the railroad station, the Hatch Brothers office building, formerly occupied as a bank, and six or seven residence and farms which are west of the present Farmers' State Bank Building which is just west of Highway 91. On the opposite side of the street proceeding west from Highway 91, there is a service garage at the intersection of Highway 91 and Fifth South, then nothing but residences and farms down to the Droubay garage, west of which are located a



residence, a building, part of the Phillips operation, and the Post Office Building, respectively. Proceeding west from the intersection of Fifth South and Eighth West on the south side of the street there are no businesses and property is used entirely for residential and farming purposes. This is true on both sides of Eighth West Street, south of plaintiffs' residence, for a quarter of a mile. At this point there is located a small display room for showing boats. Further, the area to the east of the property leased from Phillips by the defendants is all used for farming purposes, there being no business located east thereof up to the businesses located on Highway 91. The building north of the Willard S. Hatch residence occupied by W. S. Hatch Company and now used by said company as an office building was formerly a grocery and general store building. To the north of Fifth South Street on either side of Eighth West is the Phillips Petroleum operation. (Defendants' Exhibits 1 and 6, R-8, et seq)

The defendant Willard S. Hatch started his business in about 1937 or 1938 with one small unit that he parked in his barn or hay shed. He used this one unit a year or two, and then he acquired another one and entered into the business of transporting fuel oil. (R-179) At the end of 1951 he had acquired 23 pieces of equipment. In the year 1952 he acquired 13 additional units, and in 1953, 10 more, thereby doubling his equipment during the year of 1952 and 1953; in addition he follows the practice of leasing certain equipment. (R-138, 139) In 1952 and again in 1953, defendants substantially ex-



panded their work shop, which expansions were made after the acquisition by lease from the Phillips Petroleum Company of a large section of property behind the then existing operation. (R-190)

It was after this expansion commenced, that is, after 1951, that the defendants expanded their business until it became a 24 hour operation during the busy season, (R—17) the busy season starting along in April and continuing until November. (R-26) The increased number of trucks and equipment which frequented the defendants' premises and the increased work upon the equipment which resulted in a round-the-clock operation and in a greatly increased use of lights, running of engines, noise, etc., forced the plaintiffs to protest, first to the defendants and finally in a court of law.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT IN THAT SAID FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE NOT BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE AND WERE CONTRARY TO THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

## POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NO NUISANCE EXISTS OR EXISTED, WHICH ERROR WAS BASED UPON A MISCONCEPTION OF THE LAW AND A MISINTERPRETATION OF THE FACTS AS BROUGHT OUT BY THE EVIDENCE; AND THEREFORE THE TRIAL COURT FURTHER ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANTS INJUNCTIVE RELIEF.

## POINT III

IF THIS COURT SHOULD FIND AN ACTIONABLE NUISANCE DOES EXIST BUT FINDS FURTHER THAT APPELLANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO EQUITABLE RELIEF IN THE FORM OF AN INJUNCTION, IT IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REJECTING CERTAIN EVIDENCE AS TO DAMAGES AND THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED TO THE LOWER COURT TO PERMIT A FINDING AS TO THE AMOUNT OF DAMAGES TO WHICH APPELLANTS ARE ENTITLED.

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN, AT PAGE 31 OF THE RECORD, IT SUSTAINED AN OBJECTION TO A QUESTION PUT BY APPELLANTS' COUNSEL TO APPELLANT GLEN A. HATCH, WHICH QUESTION WAS DESIGNED TO ELICIT TESTIMONY RELATIVE TO THE VALUE OF THE APPELLANTS' PROPERTY.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN, AT PAGE 70 OF THE RECORD, IT SUSTAINED A MOTION TO STRIKE ALL OF THE TESTIMONY OF THE APPELLANTS' EXPERT WITNESS LARSON.

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT IN THAT SAID FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WERE NOT BASED UPON THE EVIDENCE AND WERE CONTRARY TO THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.,

It is the appellants' contention that the findings of fact do not truly represent the situation as it exists or existed at the time of the trial. It is contended that said findings tend either to minimize absurdly or ignore totally certain facts which are, to say the least, pertinent to any inquiry into the existence of a nuisance. Further, there are other findings of fact couched in terms which misrepresent or distort the true situation with respect to facts which might otherwise inure to the benefit of appellants. With the actual facts as they exist, we find no fault, but we do feel that such a presentation as is done in the final findings of fact included in the record on appeal is erroneously prejudicial to the appellants. For that reason we wish to review said findings with the view of enlightening this court as to what we contend are the true facts as supported by the record.

With the first two Findings of Fact the appellants have no objection. Finding of Fact No. 3, which generally describes the nature of respondents' plant and equipment, is probably correct insofar as it goes, but appellants object that it is not complete and therefore misleading. It should be pointed out that while respondents have had a business on the property in question for six-

teen years, it was not until 1951 that it became expanded to the extent described in the said finding of fact. (R-145, 146 and 177 et seq.)

Finding of Fact No. 4 starts out by stating that within a five hundred foot radius of the Woods Cross intersection is one of the most highly industrialized areas of the state of Utah. This finding is unwarranted. It is true that the record shows that there are certain industries within a five hundred foot radius of the Woods Cross intersection, otherwise known as the intersection of Fifth South and Eighth West Streets or Onion Street. However, there is nothing in the record which indicates the relative industrialization of this particular section of the state as compared with other industrialized sections of the state of Utah, and such a finding is not based upon any evidence in the record.

Finding of Fact 4 also finds that the property belonging to appellants is located within the 500 foot radius from the Woods Cross intersection. By application of a ruler to defendants' Exhibit 1, it will be seen that the nearest part of the said property is over 575 feet from the center of the Woods Cross intersection and appellants' home is over 600 feet therefrom.

It is uncontested, continuing with the Finding of Fact No. 4, that Phillips operates certain loading racks north of appellants' property, though according to respondents' own Exhibit 1, the distance from appellants' home is closer to 440 feet than the 350 feet found in said finding of fact.

It was further found in Finding of Fact No. 4, that the area in which the appellants live is highly industrialized and has been so for the past 16 years. This finding of fact was not justified as a glance at defendant's Exhibit 6 and an examination of the record will show. In defendant's Exhibit 6, the land to the west, to the south and to the east with the exception of the respondents' intervening property, is all devoted to residential and agricultural uses. It is true that the railroad does run in front of appellants' property. However, west of the railroad opposite appellants' home and on either side of the railroad running south, the land is devoted exclusively to residential and agricultural uses. While it is true that there is some industrialization in the area now existing, the record does not sustain the statement that the present industrialization has existed for the last 16 years. Any intimations contained in the record regarding this indicate that the present industrialization is a fairly recent development with the exception of the Phillips plant.

The testimony and exhibits also show that the present industrialization is generously interlaced with agricultural and residential areas. ( Defendants' Exhibit 6)

Finding of Fact No. 5 states that the noises that are caused by the respondents in the pursuit of business are not unreasonable in view of the area in which they are located and are necessary to the conduct of business, and that the respondents have acted carefully and with due regard for the appellants and others. Further it was

found that the lights, both headlights and fixed lights, do not interfere unreasonably with the health, comfort and enjoyment of the appellants. It was further found that there are no floodlights at the west of the garage. It is contended that the findings of the court are not founded in justice nor based upon the testimony presented in the trial. The noises that are caused are unreasonable in terms of the suffering of appellants as hereinafter set forth, and the fact that they are necessary to the conduct of the business is not a defense if, to use the language of this court, the conduct is "unlawful, unwarranted or unreasonable." This is the standard recently emphasized in the case of *Cannon v. Neuburger*, (1954) .....Utah..... 268 P. 2nd. 425.

Finding of Fact No. 5 further finds that

"At all times [the defendents] have had due regard for the peace, quiet, and rest of the plaintiffs; that the plaintiffs are supersensitive to the defendants' activities and that this supersensitivity is occasioned by the animosity between the plaintiffs and the defendant, W. S. Hatch."

This finding of fact is wholly unfounded upon the record. The plaintiff, Glen Hatch, denied that he felt any enmity toward his brother and denied that he was supersensitive to the noise made by his brother's operation. (R-40) Looking at the record, the trial court could not have made the finding on animosity that it did without outside information which was not apparent in the



record. The record itself negatives any showing of animosity on the part of the appellants. There may be some suggestion to the effect that the partition suit brought by appellant Glen Hatch against his brother (R-39, 182) is indicative of certain animosity. This can hardly be sustained and is not a proper inference from such fact. Many brothers and sisters are involved in partition suits when it is impossible for them to reach an agreement as to the use of land or how to divide land, and the fact that such a suit is brought does not necessarily entail animosity on the part of the members of the family. To presume that because the appellants are disturbed by the noises created by respondents they are supersensitive is begging the question. It has been shown that the appellants in this case have been subjected to much harassment and constant annoyance which would cause any reasonable person to react as they have reacted. The testimony by the appellants and Mrs. Moss clearly show that they are not supersensitive when they complain of these things. (See summary on pages 16 through 22, *infra* of this brief) On the contrary, it is highly probable that the complaint of these matters was held off for a longer period of time than it otherwise might have been were it not for the fact that two of the opposing parties in this action are brothers. If there is any animosity and hard feeling, it appears to originate with the respondent W. S. Hatch who admitted that he had made certain implied threats when appellants complained to him regarding the noise. (R-192, 193) It is therefore contended that the finding by the trial court to the effect "that the



plaintiffs are supersensitive to the defendants' activities and that this supersensitiveness is occasioned by the animosity between the plaintiffs and the defendant W. S. Hatch" is completely without foundation and is based, so far as can be gathered by appellants, upon information obtained wholly apart from the record, which information is completely erroneous.

The finding that the respondents have at all times had due regard for the peace, quiet, and rest of appellants is not true unless they have done everything in their power to reduce, with all reasonably available facilities at their command, the noise and annoyances to the barest minimum. This they have not done. It is not enough that they reduce them to the extent that it is convenient for the respondents; they must reduce the noises to the very minimum which can be procured, even if it is necessary to spend more money in doing so than the appellants' property is worth. In this connection we cite the case of *Quinn vs. The American Spiral Spring and Manufacturing Co.*, 1928, 293 Pa. 152, 141 A. 855. 61 A.L.R. 918.

In that case the plaintiff bought a home in an industrial area. There was a vacant lot adjacent thereto. The defendant bought the vacant lot and built thereon a manufacturing plant, locating certain heavy machinery close to the plaintiff's property. The operation of the machinery caused damage to the plaintiff's home and to the liveability of the home. The trial court refused to grant injunctive relief. The appellate court said, in reversing the trial court;

“Defendants, however, gave no heed to plaintiff’s rights. When they purchased the rear lot, they were bound to know that while they could construct their proposed plant at that place, and could operate with the kind of machinery usual in the business, they were nevertheless required under the applicable legal principle above stated to so locate and install that which they intended to use as to do as little injury to the plaintiff and his dwelling as was reasonably possible, considering the use to which the machinery was to be put, and the needs of the business. That is where they failed in their legal duty. *Apparently they thought that as their business was a lawful one, which they were entitled to carry on at that place, no just complaint could be made if, also, they were careful in conducting their operations. Such is not the law.* [Emphasis added.]

“As already stated they were still in duty bound to so locate and install the heavy machinery as not to deprive plaintiff, when it was properly operated, of the degree of quiet he had a right to enjoy. *Collins vs. Wayne Iron Works*, 227 Pa. 326, 76 Atl. 24, 19 Ann. Cas. 991. This they did not do, though they knew, as everyone else does, that the noise and vibration could have been greatly minimized by placing the heavy machinery at the other side of their lot and that this could have been done without injury to any one. It can still be removed there with great benefit to plaintiff, at a cost to the defendant of some twelve thousand dollars and a ceasing of operations for a few months while the work is being done. Defendants contend that the machinery was placed in its present position because it was expected to result in a more economical use

of the plant, due to the fact that it is easier there to load and unload long heavy bars of steel and iron, than would result if no change was made; but this is no excuse for injury to the plaintiff. (Citing cases.)

“As defendants are only required to rearrange the heavy machinery, it is a matter of no moment, though evidently the court below thought otherwise, that they will lose more money in righting the wrong done than the plaintiff’s property is worth. This they should have considered before they did the injury; the improper location of the machinery was their own act, uninfluenced by the plaintiff, and they have no right to put upon him any loss by reason thereof. 14 *R.C.L.* 359, 360. Besides, ‘where justice is properly administered, rights are never measured by their mere money value, neither are wrongs tolerated because it may be to the advantage of the powerful to impose upon the weak . . . . The rule is [always] the same: “So use your own so as not to injure another.” ’ ’ ”

We contend that the trial court did not use this standard when he made Finding of Fact No. 5 and therefore erred in said Finding of Fact. Let us look at what exists in the way of annoying activities.

The testimony shows the following:

Mr. Glen A. Hatch testified that the grease guns make a noise like a series of firing guns, series of loud noises and that when the gun is disconnected from the trucks it usually gives a loud squeal or noise that you

can hear all over the country, and the greasing goes on practically every night and every day, and that the respondents do this greasing whenever it pleases them. (R-19) That they do their steam cleaning of trucks on the outside of the shop building where there isn't any cover, just south of the garage, causing a loud hissing of steam constantly for hours at a time, sometimes during the night time. (R-19, 20) That the defendants in the changing of tires do a lot of pounding that goes on for various lengths of time—sometimes an hour, and that they tune the diesel motors and let them run for long periods of time causing a constant throb and vibration that fills appellants' home with noises and the odors of the exhaust. The motors of the trucks run from an hour or two to a few minutes and the motors are speeded up and shut off and speeded up and shut off and this occurs at all hours of the day and night. (R-20, 21)

That the operation prior to the acquisition of the Phillips property wasn't bothersome but has been since said acquisition because of the increase in the number of units and business and the increased use of the garage in night work; that the respondents use the shop for night work every night in the week during the summer season and fall, generally all night during the busy season. (R-21)

That the items of equipment operated by respondent are 25 or 30 feet long, some being smaller, and have capacities anywhere from 1500 to 3000 gallons, and

some of the larger ones carry a load of 4500 gallons.  
(R-22)

That appellants cannot sit on their patio in peace and quiet without hearing the motors or pounding of tires, even hearing them in their home when the doors are closed and also being able to hear racing motors and pounding. That if you sit down and listen to a diesel motor throb for an hour it will certainly disturb you and make you very nervous; it disturbs your sleep and rest and causes you to become nervous and worry when and how long it is going to keep up, when it is going to start and when it is going to stop. It is on your mind constantly when you are inside the house or out and you know any minute one of the big motors will start up and buzz around the yard. (R-22, 23) That the lights are on inside the shop building all night and shine directly into appellants home through the window; that they are very disturbing, making the home interior light up, and as the light shines through the moving trees it causes a moving shadow on the walls of the home; that the lights appear as spotlights. (R-24)

That the trucks are turned around at a rapid speed, faster than necessary, and with no regard to the noise made; that they seem to start earlier in the morning on Sunday than other days and work all day greasing trucks, changing tires and tuning motors, as well as on Sunday nights. (R- 25, 26) At times they have the motors of three or four trucks running at the same time from an hour to two hours both day and night, disturbing the

appellants even with the doors and windows of their home closed. (R-28, 29)

That the respondents stacked everything they could gather up it seemed like — junk of every manner and description which spilled over on to the appellants' property and was placed along the fence line between the appellants' and respondents' property; that this was cleaned up within just a few days prior to the trial of the case. (R-27, 28)

The plaintiff Edith B. Hatch testified that the defendants started with a small business which appellants did not expect would grow into what it is now; that they did not object because there wasn't interference with their living then but as it grew on which it had done the past two years, that was when the noise and the trouble started; it has doubled or more in the last two years, the increase being both night and day, and started with the acquisition of the Phillips property. (R-74, 75, 76)

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