1954

Hollis E. Walker v. Levi G. Peterson : Plaintiff's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I.

WHETHER THE COURT WAS IN ERROR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT PLAINTIFF FAILED TO KEEP A PROPER LOOKOUT.

Plaintiff's testimony that he did not see the Peterson car until he was 100 feet away conflicts with the graphic evidence laid down by the plaintiff's car by way of skid marks to the extent of 148 feet prior to the point of impact. Obviously plaintiff made an incorrect estimate of the distance when he stated he first saw defendant's car 100 feet away. The plaintiff testified that he saw the defendant's car as it pulled out from behind the truck and that he honked his horn and applied his brakes when he saw the defendant's vehicle start to cross the highway.

The defendant testified that when he heard the plaintiff's horn the plaintiff was in the neighborhood of 200 feet north of the intersection and it would appear, using the brake marks of 148 feet and the reaction time of three fourths of a second prior to the application of brakes and while the plaintiff was traveling at approximately 45 miles per hour (which the court found the plaintiff was traveling) 200 feet would be closer to the distance that the plaintiff first noticed the danger created by the defendant's automobile. Both the plaintiff and the independent witness, Mr. Madsen, testified that the defendant's car came from behind the truck and made the left turn. The truck apparently obscured plaintiff's vision of de-

fendant's vehicle for part of the time. Certainly under the evidence presented it was a question of fact for the court to determine whether or not the plaintiff failed to keep a proper lookout and there was sufficient evidence that the plaintiff was keeping a proper lookout.

POINT NO. II.

WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE, AS FOUND BY THE COURT, IN DRIVING AT A SPEED IN EXCESS OF THE POSTED SPEED, DID AS A MATTER OF LAW PROXIMATELY CONTRIBUTE TO THE ACCIDENT.

Counsel for defendant wants the court to decide that the sole proximate cause of this accident was not the improper left hand turn of the defendant and his failure to keep a proper lookout. He contends that the plaintiff, whom the court found was traveling in excess of the posted speed limit as he approached the intersection was guilty of contributory negligence. This is a question of fact to be decided by the court sitting as trier of the facts. See 5 American Jur., page 882, Sec. 689, where it is said:

“It is generally for the jury to decide whether the speed of the vehicle proximately contributed to the accident and whether such speed was excessive considering in connection therewith the hazards of the surrounding circumstances.”

See also: 10 Blashfield Cyclopedia of Automobile Law and Practice, Part I, page 662, Section 6607 where it is said:

“Speed in excess of that permitted by statute, ordinance or other traffic regulation may constitute negligence per se. Nevertheless, there is still a jury question as to whether or not such violation was the proximate cause of the injury or damage complained of.”

The case of *Yeates v. Budge*, decided by this court January 12, 1953, 252 Pac. (2nd) 220 raises the very point in question here. In that case, in which the defendant was making a left turn at an intersection, the trial court found that the plaintiff traveling in the opposite direction from the defendant was driving too fast for existing conditions, but decided, nevertheless, that the sole and proximate cause of the accident was the left turn of the defendant without signal and when the plaintiff was so close as to constitute an immediate hazard. Our Supreme Court in that matter referred to the case of *Cederloff v. Whited* cited in the appellant's brief but stated that it did not need to go to the extent of the holding in the *Cederloff* case since the *Cederloff* case was decided as matter of law whereas in the *Yeates v. Budge* case the trial court (the fact finder) found Mrs. Yeate's negligence to be the sole proximate cause of the accident. Such is the case in the matter now before this court. The court was clearly correct in finding that the proximate cause of the accident was the improper left turn of the defendant and that plaintiff's speed was not contributory negligence. If defendant had exercised the care required of a reasonably prudent man he would have checked the progress of the Walker vehicle prior to cross-

ing into the south bound lane of traffic. Had the defendant taken the time to make an estimate of the plaintiff's speed, he would have ascertained without the slightest trouble that at plaintiff's speed it was not safe or prudent to proceed into the south bound lane of traffic. The defendant cannot complain that he was mislead or lulled into a false sense of security by plaintiff's speed or distance from the intersection because defendant never seriously took pains to calculate either. There is a conflict in the evidence as to the respective location of the two vehicles at any particular time but there is sufficient evidence so that the trial court could find that the plaintiff's vehicle was so close to the intersection as to cause it to be an immediate hazard to the defendant's vehicle at the time it was making a left turn and this could be true even had the plaintiff been traveling at 40 miles per hour, the posted speed limit. The front of plaintiff's vehicle struck the right front of defendant's car, headlight and right front wheel. If the plaintiff had been traveling a little slower he would have perhaps struck the car in the middle or a little toward the back.

Defendant's counsel has gone into detail and discussed many of the Utah left turn cases. However, each of these cases was decided upon the individual facts and circumstances of the case. For the most part the facts in each case have been set out in appellant's brief. A reading of the cases cited by the appellant's counsel clearly indicates the thoughts and holding of the Utah Su-

preme Court on cases involving left hand turns. In *Cederloff v. Whited*, 169 Pac. (2nd) 777, 778, the Court says:

“Had plaintiff’s car run into the rear end of defendant’s car after the front end thereof had entirely crossed plaintiff’s course of travel there might have been some question whether the turn could be made with reasonable safety. . . .”

In the present case, plaintiff struck the right front of defendant’s car, headlight and right front wheel. (R. 6, Lines 29 and 30, R. 7, Lines 1 and 2). In *Hart v. Kerr*, 175 Pac. (2nd) 475, 477, Mr. Justice Pratt says:

“There seems to be rather an obvious conclusion at which to arrive from the evidence; plaintiff knew the defendant was coming fast. . . .”

Here the defendant knew or ought to have known that plaintiff was coming fast,

“. . . and plaintiff’s automobile was hit in front of its center . . . The conclusion: Plaintiff took a chance upon a faulty estimate of distance and speed, and lost.”

Isn’t that what this defendant did? He made a faulty estimate of distance and completely neglected his duty to make any estimate of plaintiff’s speed. In *Hickok v. Skinner*, 190 Pac. (2nd) 512, plaintiff is non-suited. The court by Mr. Justice Latimer remarked:

“Plaintiff made no effort to estimate the speed of the approaching vehicle.”

Again at page 516 plaintiff is rapped by the Court.

“For his prolonged inattention to the traffic that was approaching west on 21st South.”

“He testified that having once seen defendant’s automobile approaching the intersection, 400 to 500 feet to the east, he started his car forward from a point 20 feet back from the intersection, drove into and almost across the intersection or a distance of 65 feet without ever looking again in the direction from which defendant’s car was approaching.”

For his failure to estimate the speed of the approaching vehicle, for his failure to look again, the court found that he “failed to act in prudent and careful manner.” But, it is in *French v. Utah Oil Refining Company*, 216 Pac. (2nd) 1002 that we find some of the clearest language in support of plaintiff’s case. In this case plaintiff was driving north on 2nd West in Salt Lake City, Utah. Defendant’s truck and trailer was going south on the west lane of traffic. Plaintiff made a left turn at 4th South and was hit by the defendant in the right front fender. At the time of making the left hand turn plaintiff was going 8 m.p.h. and the defendant was about 120 feet away traveling 20 or 25 m.p.h. At this point plaintiff was somewhere in the intersection. The Court said at page 1003:

“In giving the plaintiff the benefit of the evidence more favorable to him, we conclude that at the time he entered the intersection and intended to make his turn to the left, defendant’s truck was not in the intersection. However, we are forced to

conclude that regardless of the variation in the stories of plaintiff as to the relative location of the vehicles the evidence conclusively establishes that the truck was so close to the intersection at the time plaintiff intended to and did turn west as to constitute an immediate hazard.”

and at page 1004 :

“When a statute prescribes that a turning vehicle must yield the right of way when the latter is close enough to constitute a hazard it anticipates the exercise of reasonable judgment, on the part of the driver turning. However, a burden is placed on the driver making the turn as he has control of the situation, and if there is a reasonable probability that the movement cannot be made in safety, then the disfavored driver should yield. The driver proceeding straight ahead has little opportunity to know a vehicle is to be turned across his path until the movement is commenced and in many instances, the warning is too late for the latter driver to take effective action.”

It is therefore readily apparent that each case cited by plaintiff and defendant was determined on the particular facts and circumstances surrounding each accident. No court can lay down a rule to indicate what is so close as to constitute an immediate hazard. This is a question of fact. Just as whether or not the speed of the vehicle did or did not contribute to an accident. We have simply tried to point out in this brief that the court in this case was fully justified in finding that the sole and proximate cause of the accident was the defendant's improper left hand turn. Section 41-6-73, U.C.A. 1953 says :

“The driver of a vehicle within an intersection intending to turn to the left shall yield the right of way to any vehicle approaching from the opposite direction which is within the intersection or so close thereto as to constitute an immediate hazard, but said driver, having so yielded and having given a signal when and as required by this act, may make such left turn and the drivers of all other vehicles approaching the intersection from said opposite direction shall yield the right of way to the vehicle making the left turn.”

Here the plaintiff was approaching the intersection rapidly and had the defendant exercised even the simplest measure of precaution, had he attempted to make even a superficial appraisal of the relative position of the plaintiff's car to his own, he would never have attempted the maneuver which caused this accident.

This is true even though the plaintiff had been traveling at 40 m.p.h. That even at 40 m.p.h. defendant turned so close that it was impossible for plaintiff to successfully stop his vehicle to avoid the accident. Thus, if plaintiff could not stop at 40 m.p.h. in time to keep from hitting the defendant's car, he cannot be accused of contributory negligence because he was slightly exceeding 40 miles per hour as he approached the intersection. Defendant was not in any way misled by plaintiff's excessive speed.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion we submit that there are ample facts to support the trial court's finding that defendant's negligence was the sole and proximate cause of the accident and that there was no error in the judgment made and entered by the lower court and that the same should be affirmed.